IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

U.S. BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE TO BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO LASALLE BANK, N.A., AS TRUSTEE,

Appellant,

VS.

5316 CLOVER BLOSSOM CT TRUST, and COUNTRY GARDEN OWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Respondents.

Case No. 75861

Electronically Filed Oct 25 2018 09:56 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XXIV
The Honorable Jim Crockett, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-14-704412-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8276
JARED M. SECHRIST, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10439
AKERMAN LLP
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1) because the district court entered summary judgment in favor of Respondent 5316 Clover Blossom Ct Trust (Clover Blossom) on February 7, 2018, and an order granting a motion to dismiss by Respondent Country Garden Owners Association (the HOA) on April 13, 2018. Notice of entry of the order granting the HOA's motion to dismiss was entered on April 16, 2018. The motion for reconsideration filed by Appellant U.S. Bank, N.A., as Trustee (U.S. Bank) was denied on May 1, 2018. U.S. Bank filed a notice of appeal on May 10, 2018, which was timely under NRAP 4.

APPELLANT'S STATEMENT REGARDING ROUTING

Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(5), Respondent U.S. Bank states that this case should be assigned to the Court of Appeals. Although the case does not fall under one of the categories of cases presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b), the issues presented are controlled by on-point precedent from this Court. Furthermore, this appeal was previously adjudicated by the Court of Appeals, and the district court's order marks an intentional refusal to abide by the Court of Appeals' prior order.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) Whether the summary judgment should be reversed because U.S. Bank presented unrebutted evidence that its predecessor-in-interest as servicer of the loan sent payment for more than the full superpriority amount of the homeowner's association lien, thereby discharging the superpriority portion.
- (2) Whether the district court's summary judgment should also be reversed because:
 - (a) it was issued before discovery had closed, and U.S. Bank had not finished discovery on issues including tender and the equity of the sale, and
 - (b) the district court violated NRCP 12(b) by converting Clover Blossom's motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment without providing notice of its intent to do so.
- (3) Whether the district court abused its discretion by denying U.S. Bank's motion for reconsideration despite the fact that it included evidence unequivocally demonstrating that Clover Blossom knew it was purchasing this Property subject to the deed of trust.
- (4) Whether the district court's dismissal of U.S. Bank's cross-claims against the HOA should be reversed so that further discovery can take place.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the second appeal in this litigation where the district court indefensibly granted summary judgment against U.S. Bank before discovery was complete. On

June 30, 2017, in Case No. 68915, the Nevada Court of Appeals reversed the first summary judgment against U.S. Bank, stating that the district court had not properly considered the HOA's rejection of tender, and that further discovery should be conducted on several issues.

After remand, Clover Blossom and the HOA both moved to dismiss U.S. Bank's counterclaims and crossclaims. The district court held a hearing on the motions to dismiss before the agreed period of discovery was complete. At the hearing, the district court announced that it was granting summary judgment against U.S. Bank, despite the fact that it had given no prior notice that it would be considering a summary judgment. U.S. Bank later moved for reconsideration, pointing out that it had presented unrebutted evidence of tender. U.S. Bank also attached new evidence demonstrating that the principal of Clover Blossom believed he was purchasing this property with the deed of trust still intact. Nevertheless, the district court denied the motion for reconsideration.

U.S. Bank appealed both of the district court's grants of summary judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Factual Background

A. The Borrowers enter into a Deed of Trust to purchase the property.

In June 2004, Dennis Johnson and Geraldine Johnson (collectively **Borrowers**) purchased real property located at 5316 Clover Blossom Court, North

Las Vegas, Nevada 89031 (the **Property**). To finance this purchase, Borrowers took out a loan in the amount of \$147,456.00, which was secured by a deed of trust (**Deed of Trust**) in favor of Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. (2AA 461-492).

The Deed of Trust stated that if there was a "legal proceeding that might significantly affect Lender's interest in the Property and/or rights under this Security Interest (such as a proceeding ... for enforcement of a lien which may attain priority over this Security Instrument)," then the "Lender may do and pay for whatever is reasonable or appropriate to protect Lender's interest in the Property and rights under this Security Instrument." (2AA 468-469). It further stated the Lender could "pay[] any sum secured by a lien which has priority over this Security Instrument." (2AA 469). Similarly, the Planned Unit Development Rider to the Deed of Trust stated "If Borrower does not pay [HOA] dues and assessments when due, then Lender may pay them." (2AA 491).

The Deed of Trust was assigned to U.S. Bank via an Assignment of Deed of Trust, which was recorded on June 20, 2011. (2AA 495).

B. The HOA forecloses on the delinquent assessment lien and rejects BANA's tender of more than the full superpriority amount.

Alessi & Koenig, LLC (**HOA Trustee**), acting on behalf of Country Gardens Owners' Association (**HOA**), recorded two Notices of Delinquent Assessment Liens on February 22, 2012, at 9:17 AM, both ostensibly encumbering the Property. One

of the Notices stated the Borrowers owed \$1,095.50 to the HOA. (2AA 497). The other Notice stated the Borrowers owed \$1,150.50 to the HOA. (2AA 499). On April 20, 2012, the HOA Trustee recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Homeowners Association Lien stating the total amount due to the HOA was \$3,396.00. (2AA 301).

The Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien stated that it was instituted "[i]n accordance with Nevada Revised Statutes and the Association's" CC&Rs. (2AA 297). Those CC&Rs stated that no "enforcement of any lien provision [in the CC&Rs] shall defeat or render invalid" a senior deed of trust. (2AA 452 at § 9.1).

After receiving the Notice of Default, Bank of America, N.A. (**BANA**),¹ through counsel at Miles Bauer Bergstrom & Winters LLP (**Miles Bauer**), sent a letter to the HOA Trustee that offered to pay the full superpriority portion of the HOA's lien and requested information on that account. (2AA 309-310). Instead of providing a payoff ledger with the exact superpriority amount, the HOA Trustee sent a payoff demand in the amount of \$4,186.00. (2AA 312-314). However, the ledger showed the HOA's monthly assessments to be \$55.00, meaning the total amount of the last nine months of delinquent assessments was \$495.00. (2AA 314). On December 6, 2012, BANA sent \$1,494.50—which included both the \$495.00 for delinquent assessments and \$999.50 in "reasonable collection costs"—to the HOA

¹ At the time, BANA serviced the loan secured by the Deed of Trust.

Trustee with a letter explaining that this amount was sent to satisfy the superpriority lien. (2AA 318). The HOA Trustee refused to accept this tender, and proceeded to foreclose on the Property. (2AA 307, 320).

The HOA Trustee then recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale on October 31, 2012, stating that it would sell the Property "without covenant or warranty, expressed or implied, regarding title possession or encumbrances. (2AA 303). According to this Notice, the total amount due to the HOA was \$4,039.00. *Id.* On January 26, 2013, the HOA non-judicially foreclosed on the Property. (2AA 322-323). According to the recorded Trustee's Deed Upon Sale, the HOA sold the Property to Clover Blossom for \$8,200.00. *Id.*

According to an appraisal, the fair market value of the Property on the date of the sale was \$105,000. (4AA 715-717). Based on this valuation, the Property was purchased by Clover Blossom for just 7.8 percent of its fair market value.

C. Bankruptcy filings by related trusts reveal that Clover Blossom's manager knew it purchased trusts subject to deeds of trust.

Clover Blossom is owned by Iyad "Eddie" Haddad. Roughly six months before the HOA's foreclosure sale, River Glider, another of the trusts managed by Haddad, filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy. (4AA 743-782). In that bankruptcy filing, Haddad listed as assets eleven properties that he purchased at association foreclosure sales. (4AA 756-758). For each property, Haddad declared that the senior deed of

trust remained fully enforceable after the respective association's foreclosure. *Id*. Later in the bankruptcy, and a month before he purchased the Property at issue here, the trust filed a motion in which it described its business model as follows: "Mr. Haddad funds the Trust, which then purchases **junior liens** through [homeowners association] sales held at Nevada Legal News, and **thus acquires ownership of the properties, subject to the first mortgage lien on the properties." (4AA 785) (emphasis added).**

Subsequently in the bankruptcy (approximately two months after Clover Blossom purchased the Property) the trust moved to strip the amount of the loan secured by the senior deed of trust encumbering one of those properties acquired at an HOA foreclosure. (4AA 796-802). In that lien-stripping motion, the Haddad-trust stated that it owned the subject property "subject to the following liens" (4AA 797).

II. Procedural Background

On April 23, 2015, Clover Blossom filed its Amended Complaint. (1AA 001-015). Clover Blossom filed a motion for summary judgment on May 18, 2015. (1AA 016-074). U.S. Bank filed an opposition and countermotion for summary judgment on July 22, 2015. (1AA 075-162). On September 10, 2015, the district court granted summary judgment in Clover Blossom's favor. (1AA 198-204). The summary judgment was appealed by U.S. Bank.

On June 30, 2017, the Nevada Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the summary judgment order in Case No. 68915. The Court of Appeals held that the district court had failed to consider BANA's tender and to consider how the equities bore on the sale. The Court of Appeals directed the district court to "reconsider U.S. Bank's request for an NRCP 56(f) continuance in light of *Shadow Wood*." Order at 2-3. The order mentioned five issues from *Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n v. New York Cmty. Bancorp, Inc.*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105, 1114 (2016): the adequacy of the foreclosure sale price; fraud, unfairness, or oppression leading to the foreclosure sale; any inaction by the complaining party; the presence of a bona fide purchaser; and tender by the deed of trust beneficiary. Order at 2.

On August 16, 2017, the district court issued an order setting a 180-day period of discovery, based on a stipulation between U.S. Bank and Clover Blossom. (1AA 206-209). U.S. Bank filed an answer and counterclaim to Clover Blossom's amended complaint on October 10, 2017. (2AA 241-323). This answer included crossclaims against the HOA for unjust enrichment, tortious interference with contractual relations, breach of good faith, and wrongful foreclosure. *Id*.

On October 23, 2017, well before discovery was complete, Clover Blossom moved to dismiss U.S. Bank's counterclaim. (2AA 324-379). The motion argued that BANA had been required to record its tender, that Clover Blossom was a bona fide purchaser, that U.S. Bank's only remedy was against the HOA, and that the

HOA sale was not required to be reasonable. *Id.* U.S. Bank filed an opposition on November 9, 2017. (2AA 380-484). In the opposition, U.S. Bank pointed out that the Nevada Court of Appeals had just remanded the case for further fact-finding and held that there were remaining material questions of fact, making any motion to dismiss untenable. (3AA 381-400).

The HOA then moved to dismiss U.S. Bank's crossclaims on November 9, 2017. (3AA 485-495). The HOA argued that BANA's crossclaims were barred by the statute of limitations and NRS 38.310's mediation requirement, as well as arguing that BANA lacked standing to raise claims under NRS 116. *Id.* U.S. Bank opposed the HOA's motion to dismiss on November 27, 2017. (3AA 508-615). The parties ultimately completed a Nevada Real Estate Department mediation on January 22, 2017. (3AA 675-679).

Before a hearing was held on the motions to dismiss, Clover Blossom filed a reply (3AA 496-507) and then supplemental briefing (3AA 616-642) in support of its motion to dismiss. The district court held the hearing on December 12, 2017. (3AA 660). At the hearing, the district court announced that it would treat both motions to dismiss as motions for summary judgment. *Id.* The Court found that U.S. Bank had "forfeited" its claims and announced that it would grant summary judgment in favor of Clover Blossom and the HOA on all claims, despite the fact that discovery was not complete. *Id.*

The district court issued a written Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment on February 7, 2018, that ruled against U.S. Bank and in favor of Clover Blossom on the quiet title claims. (3AA 661-674). A notice of entry of order was filed the next day. (3AA 675-695).

U.S. Bank moved for reconsideration of the order on February 26, 2018. (4AA 696-897). The motion pointed out that the district court had violated NRCP 12(b) by issuing summary judgment without giving the parties a reasonable opportunity to present all material relevant to a determination. *Id*. The motion also attached additional evidence that Clover Blossom knew it was purchasing the Property subject to the Deed of Trust, and explained how this evidence bore on the equities. *Id*. Clover Blossom opposed the motion on March 14, 2018. (4AA 898-907).

The district court issued an order granting summary judgment to the HOA on U.S. Bank's crossclaims on April 13, 2018. (4AA 909-920). Notice of entry of the order was filed on April 16, 2018. (4AA 921-935).

On May 1, 2018, the district court denied U.S. Bank's motion for reconsideration, addressing the new evidence presented in the motion but ignoring its violations of NRCP 12(b). (4AA 936-939). A notice of entry of order was filed on May 1, 2018. (4AA 940-945).

U.S. Bank filed a timely notice of appeal on May 10, 2018. (5AA 946-948).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court recently held that a tender substantially identical to the one made by BANA in this case "results in the buyer at foreclosure taking the property subject to the deed of trust." *Bank of America, N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC*, -- P.3d --, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 72, *slip op.* at 1, 2018 WL 4403296 at *1 (Nev. Sept. 13, 2018) ("*Bank of America*"). Here, BANA sent a check to the HOA's trustee NAS for the entire superpriority amount and a portion of the collection costs with an explanation that it was sent to pay off the superpriority portion of the lien. Although NAS rejected the check, there is nothing in the record suggesting that BANA's tender was inadequate or impermissibly conditional. Because of that tender, this Court should reverse the district court's decision and clarify that the superpriority portion of the lien was discharged prior to the sale.

Alternatively, this Court should reverse the summary judgment and remand for full discovery on BANA's tender and the inequity of the sale. U.S. Bank presented evidence that the superpriority portion was tendered by BANA and unjustifiably rejected, that the sale price was grossly inadequate, and that Clover Blossom was aware that it was purchasing the Property subject to the Deed of Trust. The district court had no justification for not recognizing the materiality of these questions, because less than a year earlier the Court of Appeals had reversed an earlier summary judgment against U.S. Bank in this case and directed the district

court to complete discovery on these issues. The district court's premature decision to grant summary judgment is completely indefensible.

Further increasing the error of the summary judgment is the procedural posture when it was issued. No party had filed a motion for summary judgment; instead, Clover Blossom had filed a motion to dismiss U.S. Bank's counterclaim. At the hearing, the district court unexpectedly announced, to the surprise of all parties, that it would *sua sponte* grant summary judgment to Clover Blossom. The district court then denied U.S. Bank's motion for reconsideration, which pointed out that the period for discovery had not closed and that NRCP 12(b) had been violated by converting Clover Blossom's motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment without providing notice of its intent to do so. In addition to the substantive problems with the district court's judgment, it should also be reversed for this violation of the Rules of Civil Procedure.

Finally, this Court should also reverse the district court's judgment on U.S. Bank's crossclaims against the HOA. The district court's holding that the statute of limitations barred U.S. Bank from asserting crossclaims is a clear error of law. U.S. Bank's crossclaims could only accrue when the Deed of Trust was ruled extinguished. Furthermore, even if the causes of action had accrued at an earlier point, the accrual would have been equitably tolled by the HOA's inequitable misrepresentations regarding the effect of its foreclosure sale. The district court also

erred in ruling that U.S. Bank lacked standing to raise a crossclaim under NRS 116 and that it had failed to comply with the mediation requirement of NRS 38.310.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

"This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo." Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (Nev. 2005). A motion for summary judgment should be granted "when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id.; NRCP 56(c).

A denial of a motion for reconsideration under NRCP 59 should be reviewed along with the underlying judgment. *AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington*, 245 P.3d 1190, 1197 (Nev. 2010). Such an order is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Id.*; *Land Baron Inv. v. Bonnie Springs Family LP*, 356 P.3d 511, 520 (Nev. 2015), *reconsideration en banc denied* (Jan. 22, 2016). "While review for abuse of discretion is ordinarily deferential, deference is not owed to legal error." *AA Primo*, 245 P.3d at 1197.

II. This Court Should Reverse the Summary Judgment Based on BANA's Undisputed Tender of the Superpriority Amount.

The district court erred in granting summary judgment against U.S. Bank when the pleadings establish that BANA tendered the superpriority portion and discharged the lien. As this Court held in *Bank of America*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 72,

2018 WL 4403296, delivery of a check in an amount sufficient to pay the superpriority portion of an association's lien extinguishes the lien and causes any purchaser to take title subject to the deed of trust.² The facts of BANA's tender (as alleged in the pleadings and attached materials) in this case are virtually identical to the facts in the *Bank of America* decision. Because the district court demonstrated an unwillingness to consider U.S. Bank's evidence or allow U.S. Bank to complete discovery, this Court should hold that BANA tendered the superpriority portion.

A. BANA's offer and subsequent payment of the superpriority lien were sufficient tender.

BANA's offer and check for the superpriority portion of the lien were a sufficient tender that extinguished that part of the lien. "[T]he purpose of the law of tender is to enable the debtor to relieve himself or herself of interest and costs and to relieve his or her property of encumbrance by offering his or her creditor all that he or she has any right to claim; this does not mean that the debtor must offer an amount beyond reasonable dispute, but it means the amount actually due." *Dohrman v. Tomlinson*, 399 P.2d 255, 258 (Idaho 1965); 74 AM. Jur. 2D *Tender* § 2 (same). "A valid tender of payment operates to discharge a lien." *Bank of America, slip op*.

² See also BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Aspinwall Court Trust, No. 69885, 2018 WL 3544962 (Nev. July 20, 2018) (unpublished); 2713 Rue Toulouse Trust v. Bank of America, N.A., No. 68206, 2018 WL 3545359 (Nev. July 20, 2018) (unpublished); Bank of America, N.A. v. Ferrell Street Trust, No. 70299, 416 P.3d 208 (Table), 2018 WL 2021560 (Nev. April 27, 2018) (unpublished).

at 3, 2018 WL 4403296 at *2 (citing *Power Transmission Equip. Corp.*, v. Beloit *Corp.*, 201 N.W.2d 13, 16 (Wis. 1972)).

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