IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

U.S. BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE TO BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO LASALLE BANK, N.A., AS TRUSTEE,

Appellant,

VS.

5316 CLOVER BLOSSOM CT TRUST, and COUNTRY GARDEN OWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Respondents.

Case No. 75861

Electronically Filed Dec 21 2018 02:36 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XXIV
The Honorable Jim Crockett, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-14-704412-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Sean L. Anderson, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 7259 Ryan D. Hastings, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 12394

Leach Kern Gruchow Anderson Song

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court correctly granted dismissal of the Bank's claims for unjust enrichment, tortious interference with a contract, wrongful foreclosure and breach of NRS 116.1113. The statute of limitations for the Bank's claims began running on the date of the foreclosure sale, January 16, 2013. Because each of the Banks' claims was brought more than four years after the foreclosure sale, each is time barred. The Bank's lack of diligence in this case renders it incapable of demonstrating that it is entitled to equitable tolling under the standard.

Additionally, the Bank's claims were subject to dismissal as the Bank failed to comply with the requirement of NRS 38.310 *et. seq.* prior to filing its answer and crossclaims.

Finally, the Bank failed to demonstrate that the district court erred in dismissing its claim for breach of NRS 116.1113 because the record demonstrates that the Association did not violate any of the duties the Bank identifies.

ARGUMENTS

A. The District Court Should be Affirmed as the Bank's Claims Against the Association Were Time Barred.

The Bank argues that the district court erred in determining that the Bank's claims against the Association were time barred for multiple reasons. First, the Bank argues that the district court misunderstood the accrual date. *See* Opening Brief at 26. Next the Bank argues that the district court ignored equitable tolling. *Id.* Finally, the Bank argues that the district court applied the wrong statute of limitations. *Id.* As set forth in more detail below, each of the Bank's arguments is incorrect or otherwise fails to demonstrate that the district court erred. As such, this Court should affirm the district court's order granting judgment to the Association.

1. The Bank's claims accrued at the time of the foreclosure sale.

In its Opening Brief, the Bank acknowledges that statutes of limitations begin to run "on the day the cause of action accrues" and that "a cause of action accrues when a suit may be maintained thereon." *See* Opening Brief at 27. However, the Bank then argues a contrary position, namely, that the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the court rules that the Bank's deed was extinguished. *Id.* at 27-28. The Bank's argument fails for the reasons set forth below.

First, *Clark v. Robison*, 113 Nev. 949, 951, 944 P.2d 788, 789 (1997) is controlling on this issue. There, this Court found that a cause of action accrues when a suit may be maintained thereon. *Id.* In this case, "a suit may have been maintain" as early as the foreclosure sale. In *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Country Garden Owners Ass'n*, No. 217CV01850APGCWH, 2018 WL 1336721, (D. Nev. Mar. 14, 2018) the Court described exactly why the Bank's claims accrue at the time of the foreclosure sale. It found:

Because Bank of America's interest in the property was called into question at the time of the foreclosure sale due to the HOA's superpriority lien, Bank of America knew as of the foreclosure sale that either its deed of trust was not extinguished so it was not damaged, or its deed of trust was extinguished so it was damaged. No later than when the trustee's deed upon sale was recorded, Bank of America knew the content of the HOA's notices, knew that Country Garden had rejected its tender, and knew the property had been sold at a foreclosure sale for \$6,737.80.3 Thus, based on the complaint's allegations, Bank of America had the facts supporting its contention that the HOA foreclosure sale was improperly conducted as of the date of the foreclosure sale.

Id.

In the context of claims challenging an HOA foreclosure sale, numerous courts have found that the cause of action accrues on the date of the foreclosure sale. *See e.g. Bank of New York Mellon v. Cascade Homeowners Ass'n, Inc.*, 2017 WL 3260598, at *4 (D. Nev. 2017) ("The foreclosure sale took place on August 14, 2012. BNYM brought this lawsuit more than three years later, on June 14,

2016."); see also Amber Hills II Homeowners Ass'n, 2016 WL 1298108, at *5; see also U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 2017 WL 2990852, at *3; JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 2017 WL 3317813, at *2 (D. Nev. 2017); JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. Williston Inv. Grp., LLC, 2017 WL 3299041, at *2 (D. Nev. 2017), judgment entered sub nom. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. Williston Inv. Grp., LLC, 2017 WL 4683478 (D. Nev. 2017); Bank of Am., N.A. v. Desert Canyon Homeowners Ass'n, 2017 WL 4932912, at *2 (D. Nev. 2017); Bank of New York Mellon v. S. Terrace Homeowners Ass'n, 2017 WL 3013254, at *2 (D. Nev. 2017).

Here, any purported claims the Bank may have had against the Association accrued either at the time of the foreclosure sale, January 16, 2013, or on November 21, 2012 when the Bank allegedly sent a letter to Alessi & Koenig, LLC ("A&K") in which the Bank recognizes that its interest may be extinguished by the Association's foreclosure sale. *See* AA 309. Accordingly, the district court did not err and dismissal of these time barred claims was required.

The Bank's interest in the Property was called into question and was foreseeable at the time of the foreclosure sale due to NRS 116.3116(2). The U.S. District Court discussed the foreseeability of the Nevada Supreme Court's decision in *SFR* and found that "in its ruling, the Nevada Supreme Court relied on the plain language of the statute and the official comments to the UCIOA, upon which NRS

116.3116 was based. While lower courts were divided on the proper interpretation of the statute, the Nevada Supreme Court ultimately interpreted it to give effect to its plain language, a result that was clearly foreseeable." *JPMorgan Chase Bank*, *N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC*, 2016 WL 4084036, at *17 (D. Nev. July 28, 2016).

The Bank is a sophisticated financial institution involved in hundreds of these lawsuits in both state and federal district court. As such, the Bank knew or should have known of its alleged injury at the time of the Association's foreclosure in 2012 or in 2013 when it acknowledged that its interest may be extinguished by the Association's foreclosure sale. *U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Woodland Vill.*, 2016 WL 7116016, at *3 (D. Nev. Dec. 6, 2016). Therefore, the Court should find that that the statutes of limitations applicable to the Bank's claims against the Association began to run, at the latest, on the date of recordation of the foreclosure deed January 24, 2013. As such, the Bank's claims are time barred and must be dismissed.

The Bank's position that the statute of limitations does not accrue until a court extinguishes its interest is belied by its own actions in this case. Here, the Bank brought its claims prior to any decision by the district court extinguishing the Bank's interest. This very point was discussed in *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Country Garden Owners Ass'n*, No. 217CV01850APGCWH, 2018 WL 1336721, at *3 (D.

Nev. Mar. 14, 2018) ("Bank of America contends that its damages claims are not ripe because no court has declared its deed of trust extinguished so it has not yet suffered any damages. This argument is belied by the fact that Bank of America brings those damages claims now even though its deed of trust has not been declared extinguished.")

There is no authority for the proposition that a cause of actions accrues upon a finding of damages. Even the case cited by the Bank for this proposition, *City of Pomona v. SQM N. Am. Corp.*, 750 F.3d 1036, 1051 (9th Cir. 2014), holds that it is the occurrence of harm, not the finding of damages that begins the statute. *Id.* As set forth above, if the Bank's deed was extinguished on the date of the foreclosure sale, then it was harmed on the date of the foreclosure sale, not the date a court declares that the Bank was damaged.

The Bank's request to treat its damages claims like attorney-malpractice claims should be rejected. Attorney malpractice claims have their own statute of limitations, different from the statues applicable to the Bank's claims in this case. As acknowledged by the Bank in its Brief, in an attorney malpractice claim, "it is not even certain when the malpractice occurs." *See* Opening Brief at 30. However, as set forth above, it is clear that the Bank was damaged on the date of the foreclosure sale by operation of Nevada law. This means that unlike attorney malpractice claims, the damages are not too "speculative and remote" to allow the

statute of limitations to run prior to a finding of damages. The Bank should not be allowed to sidestep the appropriate statute of limitations simply by arguing that it is asserting its claims in the alternative. Alternative pleading was never contemplated as a means to avoid the proper application of statutes of limitations.

2. Equitable Tolling is Inapplicable.

The Bank argues its claims against the Association should be equitably tolled. See Opening Brief at 31-35. Simply stated, the Bank failed to meet its burden. "Equitable tolling 'focuses on whether there was an excusable delay by the plaintiff." City of North Las Vegas v. State Local Government Employee-Management Relations Bd., 127 Nev. 631, 640, 261 P.3d 1071, 1077 (2011) (citing Lukovsky v. City and County of San Francisco, 535, F.3d 1033, 1051 (9th Cir. 2008)); see also Lehman v. United States, 154 F.3d 1010, 1016 (9th Cir. 1998). Well established equitable-tolling principles dictate that "a litigant seeking equitable tolling bears the burden of establishing two elements: (1) that he has been pursuing his rights diligently, and (2) that some extraordinary circumstances stood in his way." Kwai Fun Wong v. Beebe, 732 F.3d 1030, 1052 (2013) (citing Credit Suisse Sec. (USA) LLC v. Simmonds, 132 S.Ct. 1414, 1419, 182 L.Ed.2d 336 (2012) (quoting Pace v. DiGuglielmo, 544 U.S. 408, 418, 125 S.Ct. 1807, 161 L.Ed.2d 669 (2005))). The Supreme Court has been explicit in its characterization of equitable tolling's components as two distinct elements and "not merely factors

of indeterminate or commensurable weight." *Menominee Indian Tribe of Wisconsin v. United States*, 136 S.Ct. 750, 756 (2016). Accordingly, to assert a successful claim for equitable tolling, both elements must be satisfied. *Id.*; *see also Mazariegos-Diaz v. United States*, 2017 WL 6513343, at *3 (D. Nev. 2017).

The Bank's lack of diligence in this nonjudicial foreclosure case renders it incapable of demonstrating that it is entitled to equitable tolling under the standard. The Bank was on constructive notice of the impending nonjudicial foreclosure sale of the Property as early April 20, 2012, when the Notice of Default and Election to Sell was recorded with the Clark County Recorder's office against the Property. See 2AA 301. Additionally, the Bank acknowledges it had notice of the sale in its November 21, 2012 letter. See 2AA 309-310. Notwithstanding notice of the foreclosure sale the Bank did not seek a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction against the Association prior to the foreclosure sale.

Rather than protect its interest at the foreclosure sale of which it admits it had notice, the Bank waited more than 4 years to file the present lawsuit. In light of the foregoing, there is simply no way for the Bank to establish the due diligence required for equitable tolling to apply. This Bank is involved in hundreds, if not thousands, of these cases. The failure to file a timely pleading was exclusively within the Bank's control. The untimely filing was a direct result of the Bank's passive involvement and the Bank cannot assert or prove that it was "without any

fault," which it is required to do under the law. *Fed. Election Comm'n v. Williams*, 104 F.3d 237, 240 (9th Cir. 1996). Moreover, the untimely filing of the Bank was not due to a delay caused by the Association. Accordingly, the Bank cannot satisfy its burden to invoke equitable tolling.

Furthermore, the Bank failed to show or cite to any evidence within its opposition that the untimely filing was due to extraordinary, external circumstances beyond its direct control. *Menominee Indian Tribe of Wisconsin v. United States*, 136 S.Ct. 750, 756 (2016). Instead, the Bank argues that the Association's "misrepresentations" in its CC&Rs justify tolling. *See* Opening Brief at 32. Specifically, the Bank argues that the Association "falsely assured" the Bank that the foreclosure sale would have no effect upon the Bank's interest. However, the Bank's argument is belied by section 4.12 the CC&Rs, which follow NRS 116.3116 verbatim and put the Bank on notice that its deed of trust could be affected. Section 4.12 is entitled "Super Priority" and reads:

The lien is also prior to all Security Interests described in Sub-section 4.11(c) to the extent of the assessments for Common Expenses and Association Property based on the periodic budget adopted by the Association pursuant to NRS § 116.3115 would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the six (6) months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien.

See 2AA 431.

Section 4.13 which is entitled "Subordination of the Lien to First Security

Interest" specifically carves out section 4.12 from any promise that the interest of a first security interest holder would not be affected by an NRS Chapter 116 sale. *See* 2AA 431-432. To the extent the Bank even reviewed the CC&Rs in this case such that they could attempt to rely upon those CC&Rs, the evidence here demonstrates that the Bank was not given false assurances, but notified exactly what the law stated under NRS 116.3116. Therefore, the Bank has categorially failed to carry its burden and the claims being asserted against the Association should not be equitably tolled.

3. The Bank's claim for Wrongful Foreclosure is time barred¹.

Finally, the Bank argues its claim for wrongful foreclosure should not have been dismissed because it is subject to a six year statute of limitations. *See* Opening Brief at 35-36. The Bank cites to *Nationstar Mortgage*, *LLC v. Falls at Hidden Canyon Homeowners Ass'n*, 2017 WL 2587926 (D. Nev. June 14, 2017) to support its interpretation. However, as set forth in more detail below, the Court's reasoning in *Nationstar* is not applicable in the present case while other applicable authority has found that the statute of limitations for a wrongful foreclosure claim is 3 years.

The Court in Nationstar found that a wrongful foreclosure claim could be

14

_

Arguably, the statute of limitations for the Bank's wrongful foreclosure claim could be even shorter. NRS 107.080(5) and (6) provides the Bank had up to sixty (60) days to bring an action to challenge the propriety of the notice and sale.

subject to a longer statute of limitations "to the extent it implicat[ed] the association's CC&Rs." Here, the Bank's Amended Complaint makes it clear that its wrongful foreclosure claim is not based on the CC&Rs but instead, on the Association's alleged rejection of the Bank's pre-sale tender. *See* 2AA 26-257.

This case is more analogous to *Nationstar Mortg. LLC v. Amber Hills II Homeowners Ass'n*, No. 215CV01433APGCWH, 2016 WL 1298108, at *1 (D. Nev. Mar. 31, 2016) where Judge Gordon dismissed a claim for wrongful foreclosure holding, "[a] tortious wrongful foreclosure claim 'challenges the authority behind the foreclosure, not the foreclosure act itself.' *McKnight Family, L.L.P. v. Adept Mgmt.*, 310 P.3d 555, 559 (Nev. 2013) (*en banc*). Because Amber Hills' authority to foreclose in the manner it did arises from Chapter 116, Nationstar's claim essentially is for damages based on liability created by a statute. This claim is therefore time-barred under § 11.190(3)(a) because it was not brought within three years." *Nationstar Mortg. LLC*, 2016 WL 1298108, at *5 (citing NRS 11.190(3)(a)).

B. NRS 38.310 Applies to the Bank. The Bank failed to Follow the Statute in Asserting Its Claims.

The Bank argues that beneficiaries of deeds of trust are not required to mediate claims against HOAs prior to filing a lawsuit. *See* Opening Brief at 36-38. It is clear from the plain reading of the statute that NRS 38.310 applies to any "civil action," not only those actions involving homeowners in disputes with their

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